FILED 03-02-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## Case No. 2021AP000142-CR

## STATE OF WISCONSIN

Plaintiff-Respondent

v.

CHARLES W. RICHEY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner

## **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

ZICK LEGAL LLC Vicki Zick State Bar No. 1033516

475 Hartwig Boulevard PO Box 325 Johnson Creek, WI 53038 920-699-9900 vicki@zicklegal.com

##

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

Whether, at the time of the stop, Officer Meier only had a generalized hunch that Richey's motorcycle may have been the one that committed a traffic violation.

## CRITERIA FOR REVIEW

The erosion of Fourth Amendment liberties comes not in dramatic leaps but in small steps, in decisions that seem fact-bound, case-specific, and almost routine at first blush. Taken together, though, these steps can have broader implications for the constitutional rights of law-abiding citizens. This Court should review Mr. Richey's Fourth Amendment issue to re-emphasize the proper standard of review in reasonable suspicion cases.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### **BACKGROUND FACTS**

On April 28, 2018, Police Officer Alexis Meier was on routine patrol in the Village of Weston. (R76:5-6). Around 11:00 p.m., a deputy from the Marathon County Sheriff's Office broadcast over the radio that he had stopped to assist a disabled motorcycle near Business 51 and Schofield Avenue in the village. (R76:5). Shortly thereafter the deputy announced he had cleared that scene, but then announced that any other officers in the area should be on the lookout for a Harley-Davidson motorcycle driving erratically and at a high rate of speed, traveling northbound on Alderson Street. (R76:5).

Officer Meier was in the general vicinity of Alderson Street. (R76:6). About five minutes after hearing the deputy's call, Meier spotted a Harley-Davidson motorcycle traveling eastbound on Schofield, just west of Alderson Street. (R76:7, 12). Although it was not driving fast or erratically, she followed it for two-and-a-half blocks before activating her lights to make a traffic stop. (R76:26). At no time had she observed the motorcycle commit any traffic violations. (R76:23-24). According to Meier, she stopped the motorcycle based solely on the deputy's broadcast that she should be on the lookout for a Harley-Davidson in that general area. (R76:12-13).

As luck would have it, the motorcycle Officer Meier had pulled over was not the motorcycle the deputy had witnessed driving erratically. (R76:14). However, unfortunately for the driver of the motorcycle, the defendant, Charles Richey, this mistake was not very consoling. Because Richey had shown signs of intoxication Officer Meier placed him under arrest for OWI. (R2).

#### PROCEDURE IN THE TRIAL COURT

Mr. Richey filed a motion to suppress all OWI evidence law enforcement had gathered after the initial traffic stop on grounds that Meier did not have reasonable suspicion to pull him over. (R16). The circuit court denied the motion reasoning that Meier had sufficient grounds. (R76:46-47). Thereafter, Richey pled no contest to the OWI, the court accepted his plea, and found him guilty. (R79). The court sentenced him to nine years of imprisonment, bifurcated four and five. (R79). Richey timely filed his Notice of Intent and appealed his conviction to the court of appeals.

#### **RESULTS IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

As recast by the court of appeals, the sole issue on appeal was whether the circuit court had properly denied Richey's suppression motion. (Decision at 2). The court of appeals agreed that it had, reasoning that the circumstances cited in support of the traffic stop were sufficient to give Officer Meier reasonable suspicion. (Decison at 5).

#### **ARGUMENT**

# I. The *Ornelas* standard of review is necessary to assure a unitary body of Fourth Amendment law.

Many years ago, in *Ornelas v. U.S.*, the United States Supreme Court set forth the methodology that appellate courts should use when determining whether a law enforcement officer had "reasonable suspicion" to stop and detain a citizen. *Ornelas v. U.S.*, 517 U.S. 690 (1996). That is, they should review the lower court's findings of historical fact for clear error, but they were to review *de novo* whether the officer had reasonable suspicion. *Id.* at 700. The "*de novo*" standard was grounded in three principals.

First, the Supreme Court felt independent appellate review of the ultimate question would prevent varied results based on interpretations of similar facts by different trial judges. *Id.* at 697. Varied results would be inconsistent with the idea of a unitary system of law, which as a matter-ofcourse, would be unacceptable. *Id.*  Second, independent review would be necessary if appellate courts were to maintain control of, and to clarify, the pertinent legal principles. *Id.* at 698.

Finally, *de novo* review would tend to unify precedent and would come closer to providing law enforcement officers with a defined set of rules which, in most instances, would allow them to reach a correct determination beforehand. *Id*. Such review would likewise provide unitary guidance to litigants, lawyers, and trial courts. *State v. Hajicek*, 2001 WI 3, ¶18, 240 Wis.2d 349, 620 N.W.2d 781.

The Supreme Court acknowledged that because the mosaic which is analyzed for a reasonable-suspicion inquiry is multi-faceted, one determination seldom would be a useful precedent for another. *Ornelas*, 517 U.S. at 698. But even where one case may not squarely control another one, the two decisions when viewed together may usefully add to the body of law on the subject. *Id.* 

Implicit in the *Ornelas* Court's directions was that appellate courts should look to cases with similar fact patterns to guide their reasonable suspicion determinations. In fact, the Court presented several examples where the facts in a prior case were remarkably similar to those in the present case. *Id. De novo* review would allow for a measure of consistency in the treatment of similar factual settings, rather than permitting different trial judges to reach inconsistent conclusions about same or similar facts. *Mahaffey v. Page*, 162 F.3d 481, 484 (7th Cir. 1998).

Wisconsin uses the *Ornelas* standard of review when reviewing reasonable suspicion cases. *See e.g., State v. Powers,* 2004 WI App 143, ¶6, 275 Wis.2d 456, 685 N.W.2d 869. In fact, the court of appeals claimed to have used the *Ornelas* standard when it reviewed Richey's case, but this claim is doubtful. (Decision at 4).

II. The court of appeals did not employ the *Ornelas* standard of review in Richey's case and therefore the court's decision adds little to the unitary body of Fourth Amendment law.

Aware of the proper standard of review, Richey argued to the court of appeals that his case was factually similar to *State v. Adams*, No. 2018AP174, unpublished slip op., (WI App Jan. 15, 2019). In the *Adams* case, a police officer made a traffic stop and during the stop one of the vehicle's passengers took off on foot. *Id.* ¶2. The officer making the stop broadcast to Deputy William Hujet to be on the lookout for the fleeing individual. *Id.* Hujet immediately began searching the area and about thirty minutes later Hujet encountered Adams driving within a mile or so of where the passenger had fled. *Id.* ¶3. In his mind, Hujet thought that the fleeing individual had called Adams on his cell phone to come and pick him up. *Id.* ¶4.

Hujet continued to watch Adams who somewhat suspiciously drove down a dead-end road, backed up, and returned to where he had started. *Id.*¶3. When Adams turned onto another road which led back to the area of the original traffic stop, Hujet effectuated his stop of Adams. *Id.* Upon making contact, Hujet detected intoxicants and subsequently arrested Adams for OWI. *Id.* ¶5.

In the trial court, Adams unsuccessfully moved to suppress all evidence obtained after the stop on grounds that Hujet did not have reasonable suspicion to stop him, as he had committed no crimes or traffic violations in Hujet's presence. *Id.* ¶11. Adams renewed this claim on appeal and the court of appeals agreed with Adams. *Id.* ¶5. The court of appeals reversed the circuit court. *Id.* ¶15.

The historical facts in *Adams* were these:

- 1. Hujet sees Adams one mile away from stop
- 2. Hujet sees Adams one half hour after initial call
- 3. Hujet observes a mysterious driving pattern
- 4. Late at night

## *Id.* ¶¶3**-**5.

The historical facts in *Richey* were these:

- 1. Meier sees Richey one-half mile away from stop
- 2. Meier sees Richey five minutes after initial call
- 3. Meier sees no other motorcycles, but Richey's Harley
- 4. Late at night

(Decision ¶7).

What Richey finds disturbing is that the *Adams* court found none of the facts cited by the trial court supported Hujet's hunch, yet in his case strikingly similar facts supposedly supported Officer Meier's.

Moreover, in his case the court of appeals did not distinguish his case from *Adams* in any way. In fact, it did not mention *Adams* at all or mention any other factually similar case that supported a finding of reasonable suspicion. He submits that insofar as the court of appeals stated that it had employed the *Ornelas* standard of review, there is no evidence that it ever did.

## CONCLUSION

This Court should use this opportunity to re-emphasize how the court of appeals should be reviewing reasonable suspicion questions. It should grant Mr. Richey's petition for review.