FILED 03-10-2022 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2021AP142-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CHARLES W. RICHEY,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2797 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) latorracadv@doj.state.wi.us

Filed 03-10-2022

INTRODUCTION

The State of Wisconsin opposes Charles W. Richey's petition for review of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals' per curiam opinion affirming his judgment for operating while intoxicated as an eighth offense. State v. Charles W. Richey, No. 2021AP142-CR, slip op. (February 15, (unpublished). The court of appeals affirmed the circuit court's decision denying Richey's motion to suppress evidence. Id., slip op. at 2.

An officer stopped Richev after she observed Richev operating a Harley-Davidson motorcycle approximately five minutes later and a half mile from where another officer reported seeing a person operating a Harley-Davidson motorcycle erratically and at a high speed. Richey, No. 2021AP142-CR, slip op. at 2. The officer who stopped Richey observed signs of intoxication. Id., slip op. at 3. The State charged Richey with eighth offense of operating a motor vehicle while intoxicated following his arrest after a traffic stop. Id., slip op. at 2.

Asserting that the officer lacked reasonable suspicion for the stop, Richey moved to suppress evidence, including evidence of his intoxication, obtained during the traffic stop. Richey, No. 2021AP142-CR, slip op. at 3. The circuit court denied Richey's motion. Id.

The court of appeals affirmed, determining that circumstances provided reasonable suspicion that supported the officer's stop of Richey, No. 2021AP142-CR, slip op. at 4-5. These circumstances included the first officer's report of "a motorcycle moving erratically and at a high rate of speed," the description of the motorcycle as a Harley-Davidson," the second officer's observation five minutes later and within a half mile from "the last reported location of the speeding motorcycle," and the second officer's "observation

that there were few motorcycles out that early in the spring and that late at night." *Id.*, slip op. at 4.

CRITERIA FOR GRANTING REVIEW

Richey's petition does not reference the criteria specified in Wis. Stat. § 809.62(1r) that this Court considers in deciding to grant review. Instead, Richey asks this court to grant review "to re-emphasize the proper standard of review in reasonable suspicion cases." (Pet. 4.) Citing Ornelas v. United States, 517 U.S. 690 (1996), Richey asserts that appellate courts should review a "lower court's findings of historical fact for clear error" and review whether an officer had reasonable suspicion under a de novo review standard. (Pet. 6.) Richev contends that the court of appeals failed to apply this standard when it decided his case. (Pet. 8-9.)

Richey is wrong. Wisconsin courts have long applied the two-step standard of review contemplated under Ornelas. See State v. Martwick, 2000 WI 5, ¶¶ 18-24, 231 Wis. 2d 801, 604 N.W.2d 552 (curtilage context); and State v. Williams, 2001 WI 21, ¶ 18, 241 Wis. 2d 631, 623 N.W.2d 106 (reasonable suspicion). Under this two-step standard of review, an appellate court upholds the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous. Id. The appellate court then reviews the circuit court's determination of the constitutional question, e.g., whether reasonable suspicion exists, de novo. Id.

Here, the court of appeals identified the applicable standard of review by reference to State v. Hindsley, 2000 WI App 130, ¶ 22, 237 Wis. 2d 358, 614 N.W.2d 48. Richey, No. 2021AP142-CR, slip op. 4. In *Hindsley*, the court identified the two-step standard of review as follows: "[W]e review the trial courts findings of historical fact under a deferential standard, reversing them only if they are clearly erroneous; and we review de novo the ultimate question whether the facts as found by the trial court meet the constitutional

standard." Hindsley, 237 Wis. 2d 358, ¶ 22. In Richey's case, the court of appeals said that it would "uphold the circuit court's findings of fact unless they are clearly erroneous." Richey, No. 2021AP142-CR, slip op. 4. It then said that it would "independently determine, however, whether the facts as found by the circuit court satisfy applicable constitutional provisions." *Id.* (citation omitted).

After identifying the applicable legal standards, the court of appeals identified four circumstances that supported the stop. Richey, No. 2021AP142-CR, slip op. 4. These are historical facts entitled to the court of appeals' deference. Richev does not suggest that the court of appeals should not have considered them because they were clearly erroneous. While the court of appeals did not expressly state it "independently" determined the constitutional fact, i.e., reasonable suspicion, its decision reflects that it reviewed the "reasonable suspicion" determination de novo. By reference to the four circumstances, the court of appeals addressed the legal question, i.e., why these historical facts established reasonable suspicion. Id., slip op. 4-5.

Richey faults the court of appeals because it did not consider its prior decision in State v. Adams, No. 2018AP174-CR, 2019 WL 194763 (Wis. Ct. App. January 15, 2019) (unpublished) (P-App. 60-63). (Pet. 8-9.) Contrary to Richey's suggestion, the court of appeals had no reason to discuss Adams because it was readily distinguishable from his case, as the State demonstrated in its response brief. (Plaintiff-Respondent's Br. 13–15.)

The court of appeals applied settled legal principles when it reviewed the circuit court's decision to deny Richey's suppression motion. Richey may disagree with the court of appeals' determination that reasonable suspicion supported the officer's stop and seizure of him. But even if the court of appeals erred in determining this constitutional fact, this Court does not ordinarily grant petitions to correct errors in

individual cases. See, e.g., State v. Gajewski, 2009 WI 22, ¶ 11, 316 Wis. 2d 1, 762 N.W.2d 104 (per curiam).

CONCLUSION

This Court should not grant Richey's petition for review.